

Competency Lifecycle Roadmap: Toward Performance Readiness

Sandra G. Behrens Christopher Alberts Robin Ruefle

September 2012

TECHNICAL NOTE CMU/SEI-2012-TN-020

CERT[®] Program

http://www.sei.cmu.edu



Carnegie Mellon

Copyright 2012 Carnegie Mellon University.

This material is based upon work funded and supported by the United States Department of Homeland Security under Contract No. FA8721-05-C-0003 with Carnegie Mellon University for the operation of the Software Engineering Institute, a federally funded research and development center sponsored by the United States Department of Defense.

Any opinions, findings and conclusions or recommendations expressed in this material are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the views of the United States Department of Homeland Security or the United States Department of Defense.

This report was prepared for the

SEI Administrative Agent AFLCMC/PZE 20 Schilling Circle, Building 1305, 3rd Floor Hanscom AFB, MA 01731-2125

NO WARRANTY

THIS CARNEGIE MELLON UNIVERSITY AND SOFTWARE ENGINEERING INSTITUTE MATERIAL IS FURNISHED ON AN "AS-IS" BASIS. CARNEGIE MELLON UNIVERSITY MAKES NO WARRANTIES OF ANY KIND, EITHER EXPRESSED OR IMPLIED, AS TO ANY MATTER INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, WARRANTY OF FITNESS FOR PURPOSE OR MERCHANTABILITY, EXCLUSIVITY, OR RESULTS OBTAINED FROM USE OF THE MATERIAL. CARNEGIE MELLON UNIVERSITY DOES NOT MAKE ANY WARRANTY OF ANY KIND WITH RESPECT TO FREEDOM FROM PATENT, TRADEMARK, OR COPYRIGHT INFRINGEMENT.

This material has been approved for public release and unlimited distribution except as restricted below.

Internal use:* Permission to reproduce this material and to prepare derivative works from this material for internal use is granted, provided the copyright and "No Warranty" statements are included with all reproductions and derivative works.

External use:* This material may be reproduced in its entirety, without modification, and freely distributed in written or electronic form without requesting formal permission. Permission is required for any other external and/or commercial use. Requests for permission should be directed to the Software Engineering Institute at permission@sei.cmu.edu.

- ® CERT is registered in the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office by Carnegie Mellon University.
- TM Carnegie Mellon Software Engineering Institute (stylized), Carnegie Mellon Software Engineering Institute (and design), Simplex, and the stylized hexagon are trademarks of Carnegie Mellon University.
- * These restrictions do not apply to U.S. government entities.

Table of Contents

Abs	Abstract		
1	Intro	oduction	1
	1.1	Competency Lifecycle Roadmap (CLR)	2
	1.2	Background	2
	1.3	About This Technical Note	3
2	The	Competency Lifecycle Roadmap (CLR)	4
	2.1	Activities	4
		2.1.1 Assess	4
		2.1.2 Plan	5
		2.1.3 Acquire	6
		2.1.4 Validate	6
		2.1.5 Test Readiness	7
	2.2	Foundational Elements	8
		2.2.1 Criteria	8
		2.2.2 Environment	9
	2.3	Roadmap Implementation over Time	10
3	Imp	lementation Approaches	12
	3.1	Building a Training and Development Program	12
	3.2	Benchmarking a Training and Development Plan or Program	13
	3.3	Developing Curricula or Training Plans	14
	3.4	Creating an Individual Development Plan	15
4	Sum	nmary and Next Steps	16
Bib	Bibliography		

CMU/SEI-2012-TN-020 | ii

List of Figures

Figure 1:	Competency Lifecycle Roadmap (CLR) Structure	4
Figure 2:	Competency Lifecycle Roadmap (CLR): Progression over Time	10

List of Tables

Table 1:	Characteristics of Assess Activity	5
Table 2:	Characteristics of Plan Activity	5
Table 3:	Characteristics of Acquire Activity	6
Table 4:	Characteristics of Validate Activity	6
Table 5:	Characteristics of Test Readiness Activity	7
Table 6:	Characteristics of Criteria Element	9
Table 7:	Characteristics of Environment Element	9

Abstract

Workforce effectiveness relies on two critical characteristics: competence and readiness. This technical note describes the Competency Lifecycle Roadmap (CLR), a preliminary roadmap for understanding and building workforce readiness, developed by the Computer Security Incident Response Team (CSIRT) Development and Training team at the CERT[®] Program, part of Carnegie Mellon[®] University's Software Engineering Institute. This note provides an early look at the roadmap, highlights some of its uses to date, and discusses potential next steps in its development and transition.

1 Introduction

Workforce effectiveness relies on two critical characteristics: competence and readiness. Competence is the sufficient mastery of the knowledge, skills, and abilities—or competencies needed to perform a given task.¹ Competence reflects how well an individual understands a subject matter or is able to apply a given skill, and it is necessary, but not sufficient, to successfully perform a given task. Readiness is the ability to apply a set of competencies to complete a real-world task.

Consider the following scenario: A large agency recently hired several people to join its digital analytics team. The new employees' long-term job was to perform forensic evidence collection and subsequent digital media analysis in the field and back at the organization's test lab. The new hires were put through initial training to teach them how to perform these tasks, including using various forensic tools and associated analysis processes. Tools that were reviewed included applications such as EnCase² and FTK.³

After the new employees completed training for each technique or tool, they were tested to determine if they had acquired the knowledge, skills, and abilities needed to use it. The new team members successfully passed all of the individual tests presented to them. After they completed all of their introductory training courses, the team's leader believed that the new team members were ready for field work. However, when the new team members were presented with a compromised system to analyze in the field, none of them were able to perform the analysis adequately. They had no idea how to start the analysis and investigation process on their own. They were also unfamiliar with the media and how to collect data from it. Although they could perform parts of the process and use various tools in a classroom setting, they failed the test that mattered most. They could not adapt what they had learned to the environment of the real-world scenario. In the end, the new team members were not ready to perform their job function in the field.

In this scenario, the new team members demonstrated their competence with the suite of techniques and tools needed for their job assignments. However, they were unable to analyze a compromised system in the field. They lacked the readiness to perform their assigned tasks in real-world conditions despite having shown they possessed the required knowledge, skills, and abilities.

This scenario showcases a common problem experienced by organizations with training and development programs that validate only specific skills learned in isolation. Without understanding what true readiness entails and testing a staff's ability to accomplish those requirements, organizations often come up short of achieving their true training and development

¹ For discussion of competencies, see *The People Capability Maturity Model - Guidelines for Improving the Workforce* [Curtis 2002] and *Project Manager Competency Development Framework* [PMI 2002].

² http://www.guidancesoftware.com/encase-forensic.htm

³ http://accessdata.com/products/computer-forensics/ftk

goals. Staff must be able to show that they can apply what they have learned, and training programs must be structured to provide staff with opportunities to test that readiness before being placed in the field and confronting unexpected situations.

1.1 Competency Lifecycle Roadmap (CLR)

Researchers from the CERT[®] Program at Carnegie Mellon[®] University's Software Engineering Institute (SEI) created the Competency Lifecycle Roadmap (CLR), which defines a systematic approach for developing and sustaining workforce readiness over time. We designed the CLR to be domain independent so that it can be broadly applied across multiple disciplines. It takes into account a vast body of knowledge in the cognition and performance disciplines pioneered at Carnegie Mellon University, including research into the nature of expertise [Simon 1996]. This roadmap comprises five core activities (assess, plan, acquire, validate, and test readiness) and two foundational elements that support those activities (criteria, environment). Section 2 of this technical note details the roadmap and its activities and foundational elements.

We envision using the CLR in many ways, including

- identifying gaps in an organization's training and development program by benchmarking it against the CLR
- helping an organization apply the CLR to improve its training and development program
- providing guidance for developing curricula or training programs
- helping an individual set personal goals related to a specific job or task

1.2 Background

For the past several years, the CERT Program has helped client organizations improve their training and development programs. Several of these engagements focused on identifying and documenting cybersecurity competencies. However, as in the scenario, organizations began to understand that competence is not readiness.

In 2011, the CERT Program's Computer Security Incident Response Team (CSIRT) Development and Training (CDT) team chartered a project focused on building readiness within an organization's workforce. We developed the workforce readiness project based on lessons learned from identifying and documenting cybersecurity competencies for client organizations, as well as observations of work performed in related software engineering settings. The project's competency work initially focused solely on cybersecurity. However, over time the project scope broadened to include, for example, supervisors' readiness to perform their assigned leadership duties.

As we shifted the focus of our research from developing and documenting competencies to building workforce readiness, we leveraged previous SEI work in building readiness using certification programs [Behrens 2004] and cybersecurity workforce development [Hammerstein 2010]. We also looked at relevant research throughout the training and development community. In particular, we reviewed materials focused on how to build competency-based training

® CERT and Carnegie Mellon are registered marks owned by Carnegie Mellon University.

programs, evaluation and assessment methods, and methods for developing effective training and development programs. The Bibliography of this technical note lists these materials.

While the SEI has significant experience in defining and documenting cybersecurity competencies for its customers, this work is not unique to the SEI. Over the past few decades, organizations throughout the community have undertaken many similar efforts to develop and document lists of competencies. For example, both the U.S. Office of Personnel Management (OPM) and the National Initiative for Cybersecurity Education (NICE) have developed and documented competency frameworks for the cybersecurity community [OPM 2011, NICE 2011]. The OPM has also developed and documented a Leadership Competency Framework that focuses on an organization's management and leadership roles [OPM 2006].

1.3 About This Technical Note

The primary audience for this technical note is managers and training officers who want to improve their organization's training and development program. Researchers focusing on training and education activities will also find this document useful. It will also benefit individuals or small working groups trying to develop their own competence and readiness to perform or improve their work.

In general, people who are interested in the following topics will find this technical note worthwhile:

- competency definition and development
- building, benchmarking, and improving a training and development program
- understanding personal (or team) goals for competency development and readiness improvement

The overarching goal of this technical note is to describe a preliminary roadmap for understanding and building workforce readiness, though the CLR is still early in its development. This note provides an early look at the roadmap, highlights some of it uses to date, and discusses potential next steps in its development and transition. Future reports will further detail the roadmap's technical aspects.

This remainder of this note comprises the following sections:

- Section 2: The Competency Lifecycle Roadmap (CLR)—describes the five activities and two foundational elements of the CLR
- Section 3: Implementation Approaches—provides a basic overview of guidelines and tools for implementing the CLR
- Section 4: Summary and Next Steps—presents next steps in the development and transition of the roadmap
- Bibliography—lists related publications used in creating the CLR and this technical note

2 The Competency Lifecycle Roadmap (CLR)

The Competency Lifecycle Roadmap (CLR) is an approach for systematically building workforce competencies and maintaining them over time. The roadmap focuses on an individual's readiness to perform his or her task assignments. In this context, *readiness* is the ability to apply the total set of competencies (both technical and enabling) required to perform a task or set of tasks.

The roadmap comprises five core activities—assess, plan, acquire, validate, and test readiness and two foundational elements that support the activities—criteria and environment. Figure 1 illustrates the basic structure of the CLR.

Assess	Plan	Acquire	Validate	Test Readiness
		Criteria		
Environment				

Figure 1: Competency Lifecycle Roadmap (CLR) Structure

This section provides a conceptual overview of each roadmap activity and foundational element.

2.1 Activities

A roadmap *activity* is defined as a task performed to achieve a specific training and development outcome.

2.1.1 Assess

The first activity, *assess*, is an initial evaluation of key competencies and the ability to perform those competencies in a specific task. This activity should not be confused with a training assessment, which evaluates the extent to which a training course meets its objectives. In contrast, the roadmap's assessment is a performance-based test that includes measurement of an individual's current competencies. It evaluates an individual's ability to apply a stated competency, regardless of how that competency is acquired (e.g., coursework, experience, or observation). Because knowledge can be broad or specific, gradually or discretely acquired, relevant for long or short periods, or retained or lost over time, a baseline assessment of an individual's current knowledge and abilities is essential.

Assessment is important to the roadmap because this activity defines a systematic, objective, and repeatable process for establishing a baseline of strengths and weaknesses in the specific competencies needed to perform a specific task. These competencies are called *identified*

competencies in this note.⁴ Assessment also provides insight into which competencies need to be maintained or improved to achieve the desired performance. In addition, as an organization assesses groupings of competencies, it gains an overall picture of an individual's relative strengths and weaknesses, which can assist that individual with professional growth opportunities. Table 1 presents the key characteristics of the *assess* activity.

Dimension	Description
What	an initial evaluation of key competencies and the ability to perform them in a specific task
Why	 to identify a baseline of strengths and weaknesses in the key competencies needed to perform a specific task
	 to apply a systematic, objective, and repeatable process
	 to provide insight into how to maintain or improve the performance of identified
	competencies

Table 1: Characteristics of Assess Activity

There are many different ways to perform the assessment process. Each organization will need to determine what works best in its environment. Examples of methods that might be used include the following:

- Conduct a performance-based test that includes measurement of the current state of key competencies.
- Have individuals complete a skills inventory with supporting substantiation showing evidence they mastered those skills. Substantiation might be course certificates or a manager's recommendation.

2.1.2 Plan

The next roadmap activity, *plan*, defines an individual's intended course of action for maintaining or improving specific competencies that are needed to perform a specific task assignment. Table 2 presents the key characteristics of the *plan* activity.

Table 2:	Characteristics of Plan Activity
----------	----------------------------------

Dimension	Description
What	a course of action intended to maintain or improve identified competencies
Why	 to specify an attainable path for maintaining or improving identified competencies to communicate the path for maintaining or improving identified competencies

The *plan* activity is important because it specifies an attainable path that an individual can follow to maintain or improve identified competencies. Here, an individual determines which options and resources are available and relevant. Once the path, or development plan, has been developed, the individual documents it and then disseminates it to all relevant stakeholders. Planning thus lays the foundation for acquiring identified competencies, which is the next roadmap activity.

Some examples of planning methods include the following:

- Map strengths and weaknesses to options and resources provided within the organization and community to develop a path for maintaining or improving identified competencies. This may often take the form of an individual development plan (IDP).
- Document and disseminate the path for maintaining or improving identified competencies.

⁴ The identified competencies constitute the subset of all key competencies that will be addressed.

2.1.3 Acquire

The *acquire* activity of the roadmap defines actions that will be taken to obtain the knowledge or skills required to maintain or improve identified competencies.⁵ Acquisition of competencies is important because it enables an individual to reinforce strengths and address weaknesses in his or her knowledge and abilities. Table 3 presents the key characteristics of the *acquire* activity.

Table 3: Characteristics of Acquire Activity

Dimension	Description
What	 actions taken to maintain or improve identified competencies
Why	· to reinforce strengths and address weaknesses in the ability to perform a specific task

Depending on a job's complexity and requirements, multiple modalities can be used to maintain or improve competencies, including one or more of the following:

- a training course or curriculum
- mentoring or other on-the-job training opportunities, such as ride-alongs
- shadowing management or other subject matter experts
- a realistic simulation environment
- targeted self-study (e.g., technical journals, online discussions, or topical blogs)
- conference attendance and participation
- academic coursework or degree programs

2.1.4 Validate

Validate is the roadmap activity that measures whether an individual's training and development actions have addressed his or her competency needs. Validation of acquired competencies is achieved by conducting a performance-based test to determine if an individual has maintained or improved identified competencies through his or her actions. It defines a structured approach to measuring knowledge and abilities that have been acquired. Table 4 presents the key characteristics for the *validate* activity.

Table 4: Characteristics of Validate Activity

Dimension	Description
What	a measure of whether actions have addressed identified competencies
Why	• to ensure that identified competencies have been adequately maintained or improved

Validation methods can include

- quizzes
- certification exams
- targeted interviews (by experts)
- performance on a simulation or other learning exercise
- observation of employee demonstrating what was learned

⁵ For further discussion of competencies and training, see *Handbook for Developing Competency-Based Training Programs* [Blank 1982].

Validation focuses on the knowledge and abilities needed to perform a task. Its emphasis on measuring the extent to which knowledge and abilities have been acquired differs from that of the next roadmap activity, *test readiness*, which evaluates the application of knowledge and abilities in an actual work environment.

2.1.5 Test Readiness

Often overlooked or grouped with validation, the *test readiness* activity of the roadmap is a realworld evaluation of whether a person can perform a specific task as required. People bring a range of knowledge and experiences to any job setting or task. The initial assessment and subsequent validation will determine an individual's knowledge of and experience with certain competencies and his or her understanding of some targeted (often highly technical or organization-specific) competencies.

However, knowing an individual's current proficiency in selected competencies is insufficient for predicting that individual's overall readiness to perform a given task. An individual might have related knowledge and abilities but might not be able to apply them in a real-world setting. The ability to test an individual's readiness to perform a task is an essential component of an effective training and development program. Table 5 presents the key characteristics of testing an individual's readiness to perform assigned tasks.

Table 5: Characteristics of Test Readiness Activity

Dimension	Description
What	a real-world evaluation of whether a specific task can be performed as required
Why	 to ensure that competencies can be appropriately applied to tasks

Methods for performing readiness testing can include

- real-world scenario
- role-playing
- capstone exercise
- real-world simulation
- observation of real-world task performance

Readiness is best evaluated using a multidimensional, performance-based evaluation of task performance. The multiple dimensions used to test readiness comprise several inputs, including

- outcomes from assessments
- outcomes from evaluations
- interviews with supervisor(s)
- interim job performance evaluations (e.g., at 30 days and 90 days after job assignment)
- observation by supervisor on ability to perform as a team member or to perform a specific job function
- ability to explain job tasks and concepts to newer staff

More experienced individuals may assess their own readiness for new work or added responsibility by using the CLR themselves or with a supervisor or another experienced co-worker who can provide objective feedback.

It is vital during this phase to understand the critical importance of real (as opposed to realistic) work. To know if someone can actually perform all of the activities related to a set of job requirements, all of the key components of that job must be made available. For example, for someone to be ready to complete a detailed report, he or she must understand more about it than how to fill in the blanks, such as how the report is communicated to others, where it is stored, and who may be using the report over what period of time. To determine that person's readiness, the entire task in its real-world context must be presented so that the staff member can demonstrate strengths and identify areas in which he or she may need additional development.

Readiness dimensions are often tailored to the job requirements and specific sets of competencies needed to both perform and excel at that job. Sometimes an individual may develop task performance over time. In other instances, depending upon the role, the task requires performance excellence, and an individual is deemed either ready or not ready to perform.

2.2 Foundational Elements

The CLR defines a *foundational element* as an entity that supports the execution of roadmap activities. The inclusion of foundational elements is one of the most important ways in which the CLR differs from other models and approaches to many training and development programs, whose moderate success in achieving desired outcomes may be due in part to their exclusion of such elements. These critical, enabling elements of the CLR are *criteria* and *environment* (sometimes called *context*).

2.2.1 Criteria

Criteria, the first foundational element of the roadmap, are the sets of technical and enabling competencies that define the requirements for performing tasks. *Technical competencies* are the subset of knowledge and abilities that directly affect the ability to perform a task. For example, a technical competency for a cybersecurity analyst is the ability to use an intrusion detection system. For a project manager, the ability to develop a schedule is a technical competency.

In contrast, *enabling competencies* indirectly support the completion of a task. Effective communication is an example of an enabling competency. For example, the cybersecurity analyst needs to communicate information about possible security incidents with his or her colleagues. Likewise, the project manager needs to communicate with his or her team when preparing and implementing the project's schedule of events.

Criteria establish the scope of performance requirements that define readiness to perform a task. Just as other training and competency-based programs have demonstrated, our research indicates that competencies are contextual. They work best when aligned with a role and, in particular, when the specific application for performing the role-based functions describes the competency in terms of the work that is actually done.

Table 6 defines the characteristics for the criteria element of the roadmap.

Table 6: Characteristics of Criteria Element

Dimension	Description
What	 sets of technical and enabling competencies that define the requirements for performing assigned tasks can also be broken out at a more detailed level with the knowledge and skills needed to perform the activities associated with the competency; could also include the tasks performed as part of the competency
Why	 to establish the scope of performance requirements that define readiness

The scope of performance is more granular than it appears at first glance. Specific criteria must be understood clearly, both in depth and breadth. And, perhaps most importantly, they must be specified for every phase or activity of the CLR in such a way that individual growth in knowledge and performance can be measured in a variety of ways, over time.

The CLR can be applied across many disciplines in part because it can incorporate any criteria, such as those from the

- National Initiative for Cybersecurity Education (NICE) cybersecurity competencies [NICE 2011]
- OPM Leadership Competency Framework [OPM 2006]
- OPM Competency Model for Cybersecurity [OPM 2011]
- Project Management competencies from the Project Management Institute [PMI 2002]

2.2.2 Environment

The second foundational element of the roadmap is the *environment*, which includes the processes, culture, and context that influence the execution of the roadmap activities. In some instances, conditions within the environment facilitate or enable the successful completion of roadmap activities. In other instances, conditions hinder the execution of the roadmap activities, acting as barriers to a successful training and development program.

The roadmap's environment element gives users the structure and support they need to work in a dynamic organizational setting. The environment is important because it ensures a strong relationship between the training and development program and people's readiness to perform their assigned tasks. Table 7 presents the key characteristics for the training and development program's environment.

Dimension	Description
What	 processes, culture, and context that influence the execution of the competency lifecycle activities
Why	 to provide the structure and support needed to work in a dynamic organizational setting to ensure a strong relationship between training and development goals and readiness to perform assigned tasks

Table 7: Characteristics of Environment Element

Key environmental factors in the success of a training and development program can include

- a designated training coordinator to ensure the training program is institutionalized, updated, and socialized
- clear policies and processes that detail staff and management requirements for training and development

- outlined, streamlined processes for achieving assigned activities
- time for management to meet with each employee to discuss career and professional development and perform a yearly assessment of the needed knowledge, skills, and abilities for performing job functions satisfactorily
- time for staff to pursue training and development activities, even providing training as a work assignment
- a centralized tracking system to allow management and staff to track training plans and accomplishments
- a culture of training and education within the organization that recognizes the importance of developing and sustaining competencies and encourages such pursuits through verbal communication and dedication of time and resources
- recognition by staff and management that training and development is more than just completing yearly compliance modules for ethics, security, privacy, and other such practices

2.3 Roadmap Implementation over Time

The roadmap can be used to define an individual's training development path over time. Figure 2 illustrates this process, in which the roadmap establishes an individual's progression from novice to expert for a given job assignment.



Figure 2: Competency Lifecycle Roadmap (CLR): Progression over Time

Each level of job proficiency (novice, intermediate, and expert) has a unique set of criteria that defines the requirements for performing assigned tasks at that level. The environment affects all levels of job proficiency and either facilitates or hinders an individual's progression over time. In addition, the core roadmap activities (assess, plan, acquire, validate, and test readiness) are performed continuously throughout this progression. The progression across levels of expertise defines an individual's training and development path within an organization, providing a roadmap for improving an individual's knowledge and abilities.

It is important to note that this roadmap is not intended to be used in a linear fashion. All people have some areas of expertise, some areas that need to be developed, and perhaps some areas that are outside an individual's interest or ability. The notion of readiness may be iterative and certainly takes into account criteria at all levels, from novice to expert. While time is an important factor, it is only one indicator of the growth of competency-based readiness. Other indicators might include experience or collective abilities of a work team.

3 Implementation Approaches

An organization can use the CLR instrument as a guide for multiple scenarios, including

- building an initial training and development program
- benchmarking its training and development program and identifying gaps and areas for improvement
- developing curricula or training programs
- helping an individual or team set personal goals related to a specific job or task

This section of the technical note shows how the CLR can be used effectively for each use case.

3.1 Building a Training and Development Program

An organization can use the seven components (five activities and two foundational elements) of the CLR as a guide to building a training and development program. The CLR focuses not on completion of curricula or courses, but rather on an outcome of readiness, which may entail expansion of the training and development program to ensure its long-term success and sustainability.

To build a training and development program, an organization might perform the following steps, adapted from the work of Blank [Blank 1982] and Gott and Lesgold [Gott 2000].

- 1. Choose criteria for competencies relevant to the roles in the organization that require training. These criteria can come from an existing set of competencies, such as the role-based U.S. federal government's cybersecurity competencies outlined in the NICE, or they can be developed in-house.
 - a. If developing criteria in-house, the organization can use a role-based scenario technique that gathers information from staff on their activities and the skills and knowledge they need.
 - b. This data can then be synthesized into competencies or mapped to existing sets of competencies to determine the criteria.
- 2. Develop strategies for assessing staff knowledge and skills. A preliminary, self-administered inventory of mastered skill areas can help ensure that staff members do not pursue redundant training. It can also help management to identify projects that can benefit from particular staff skills.
- 3. Build a planning step into the training and development process. Individuals in the program will decide, usually based on discussions with their manager, which competencies they need to acquire, which might need to be refreshed, and which require only sustainment through professional development. Some competencies may require no additional development.
 - a. During the planning step, the organization should determine the most effective methods for providing knowledge and skills to the staff member. For example, some competencies, such as *adjusting to organizational customer needs*, may be learned only through mentoring and observation.

- b. The individual and his or her manager should work together to develop a documented IDP with expected competency acquisition and completion dates.
- 4. Provide and support methods of competency acquisition. The organization should provide ample time for training and development activities, whether they are courses, self-paced computer-based training (CBT), mentoring, or on-the-job training. The organization can also pay for any activities that charge a fee such as formal courses or university programs. It might also need to allow trainees time away from current duties or reduce their workload until they complete the activity. All supporting information and components of this step should be added to the documented IDP established in step 3b.
- 5. Establish methods of validating that the completion of acquisition methods yields the desired outcome. This validation can be measured by benchmarking learning objectives, testing course content retention, or conducting scenario and role-playing activities that highlight what was learned.
- 6. Establish a method of readiness testing for each relevant competency or competency group. For example, in the opening scenario in Section 1: Introduction, real readiness testing would involve giving the staff member a compromised system, with no instructions, and asking him or her to determine what happened to the system and what type of malicious code it was infected or compromised by. Realistic testing would match the staff member with a more experienced partner to work out the problem as they would on a real task. It is critical to provide both the problem and the real environment or context in which the work problem is likely to occur. Without this readiness testing piece of the training and development program, organizations cannot adequately assess staff members' readiness to perform the set of competencies or the job in the field under actual working conditions. With readiness testing, organizations can assess both technical and enabling skills, including complex judgment and deductive and inductive reasoning, problem-solving, flexibility, and the ability to handle unexpected occurrences.
- 7. Establish the readiness testing and competency lifecycle methodology in a manner that is conducive to the culture, organizational processes, and personality of the business unit and parent company. The assessment activities need to be appropriate to the organization and must have no negative impact on day-to-day operations.
- 8. Identify and develop enabling factors, such as time, funding, and other resources, to ensure that the training and development program supports the entire team or workforce involved. Organizations may need to establish an institutionalized process for the training program. The process should include standardized mechanisms, techniques, and templates for assessment, planning, validation, and readiness testing. When appropriate, organizations (particularly larger and more complex ones) should establish support mechanisms (such as policies, procedures, and a training officer position) and obtain support from upper management and human resources for implementing the training and development program.

The steps above highlight the optimal components of an effective program for developing and maintaining a capable, effective workforce.

3.2 Benchmarking a Training and Development Plan or Program

Organizations can use the CLR to benchmark already established training and development programs. Benchmarking allows an organization to understand its program's current strengths,

weaknesses, gaps, and goals. While not prescriptive, such benchmarking can shed light on unaddressed areas, particularly those regarding competency development beyond formal training courses. An individual (training manager, supervisor, or other designated professional) or group within the organization can self-administer the CLR for benchmarking, or an external party can be involved to reduce bias.

The organization can evaluate how well its current training and development program addresses each of the CLR components (five activities and two foundational elements). This benchmarking exercise would identify any gaps in the program, such as a lack of readiness testing or a lack of standard performance criteria for a work assignment. This method can also help to identify and prioritize improvement activities to address any gaps. The organization might determine which CLR components need to be incorporated into its training and development program and form plans to do so. If an organization adds a component of the CLR, it should consider the relevant steps and issues outlined in this technical note.

CLR users can also benchmark its training and development program at a more granular, in-depth level to determine how well each component is performed. This more focused method can identify specific strengths and weaknesses and establish tailored improvement plans. For example, an organization might discover that its assessment of staff knowledge and skills did not sufficiently evaluate strengths and gaps in essential competency areas.

This more granular benchmarking can be done in numerous ways, depending on the scope of the analysis and the outcome desired:

- self-assessment by a training officer or training group
- focus group involving a representative sample of staff, management, and human resources or training team members
- survey or a series of workshops that asks staff and management how each of the five CLR activities (assess, plan, acquire, validate, and test readiness) are performed

Group discussions can focus on the training and development program's competency criteria and their enablers or constraints. More open-ended discussions might generate feedback on which areas of the program need improvement. These discussions can also provide a good understanding of the staff members' general like or dislike of the existing program, which may shed light on how well they use it.

3.3 Developing Curricula or Training Plans

Organizations can use the CLR to guide their development of training plans and curricula. The CLR can be especially useful when developing a broad curriculum, which entails many different competency acquisition methods and includes tests of skill readiness, competency, and job function level. Using the components of the CLR as a model can help build not just a set of courses, both live and virtual, but also a synergistic curriculum that focuses on the practical experience staff need to complete day-to-day tasks.

Using the CLR to help develop curricula or training plans, an organization can choose training activities that culminate in readiness testing. It also can help focus planning and acquisition methods on those requiring observation, demonstration, role-play, simulations, or shadowing a more experienced staff member. This approach not only makes the training curriculum more

interesting, but it can also improve participants' understanding of readiness performance requirements.

3.4 Creating an Individual Development Plan

To create an IDP, a manager or supervisor usually works with a staff member to identify the competencies the staff member should acquire, master, refresh, or sustain based on his or her job function or role.

If possible, the staff member should then be assessed against those competencies, based on years of experience, previous job performance, certifications in the knowledge and skill domain, or similar parameters. When possible, the organization should conduct more granular assessments of current competence that employ a skill-based test and a knowledge test, much like the written and driving portions of driver's license exams. Such an assessment provides a baseline for further measurement.

To develop the IDP, the organization identifies each competency and its corresponding skills and knowledge areas. Then the organization documents appropriate, recommended training and development opportunities and determines the methods of acquisition, validation, and readiness testing.

All of this information is documented in the IDP, so both the staff member and management have an explicit understanding and agreement about competency development acquisition and measurement expectations. The organization can then use the documented IDP as an individual roadmap to track the individuals' progress toward completion and determine if and how he or she achieves readiness.

4 Summary and Next Steps

The CLR provides an agile, practical approach to developing and managing a competency-based staff-readiness program. We designed the CLR around the idea that staff members at all levels of expertise require periodic readiness assessments for both existing and anticipated work requirements. The CLR provides a strategy for maintaining and enhancing competence over time.

The enabling competencies are, in some ways, at the heart of this approach to long-term readiness development. While traditional training curricula may be sufficient to maintain and enhance specific skills, they are, on their own, insufficient for long-term workforce readiness. New skills must be integrated with existing skills. Organizations and their individual staff members must understand when older knowledge or skills are sufficient and when they must be enhanced or replaced with new technologies and understandings.

The CLR is still in its early stages of development. Our next steps include exploring how to describe each component in more detail. Next steps will also explore how readiness testing for more esoteric enabling competencies can be created and implemented. Specific next steps will include

- building and testing assessment tools for a variety of readiness requirements at both the technical and leadership levels
- piloting applications of the CLR in smaller settings with individual teams or work groups
- using the CLR in a variety of benchmarking situations that might include training and curriculum design as well as mentoring and supervisory programs
- documenting scenario-building techniques so they can be used for both assessment and program development
- documenting the role-analysis methodology for identifying competencies for different roles
- developing an assessment instrument to allow organizations to benchmark their training and development programs against the CLR so they can identify areas for improvement
- exploring, in conjunction with other groups in the CERT Program, how this readiness approach can be applied to a team rather than to an individual as described in this technical note
- exploring how this roadmap can be applied to cybersecurity training and development

Bibliography

[Behrens 1992]

Behrens, S. & Crossman, D. "Affective Strategies for Effective Learning," *Proceedings of the Annual Conference of the Association for Educational Communications and Technology*, Washington, DC, February 12, 1992.

[Behrens 2004]

Behrens, Sandra; Mogilensky, Judah; & Masters, Steve. *CMMI-Based Professional Certifications: The Competency Lifecycle Framework* (CMU/SEI-2004-SR-013). Software Engineering Institute, Carnegie Mellon University, 2004. http://www.sei.cmu.edu/library/abstracts/reports/04sr013.cfm

[Blank 1982]

Blank, William E. *Handbook for Developing Competency-Based Training Programs*. Prentice Hall, 1982.

[Curtis 2002]

Curtis, B.; Hefley, W.; & Miller, S. *The People Capability Maturity Model - Guidelines for Improving the Workforce*. Addison-Wesley, 2002.

[Dijkstra 1989]

Dijkstra, S.; Van Hout-Wolters, W.; & Van Der Sijde, P. *Research on Instruction: Design and Effects*. Educational Technology Publications, 1989.

[Gott 2000]

Gott, S.P. & Lesgold, A.M. "Competence in the Workplace: How Cognitive Performance Models and Situated Instruction Can Accelerate Skill Acquisition," Ch. 5, 239-329. *Advances in Instructional Psychology – Vol. 5: Educational Design and Cognitive Science*, Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, 2000.

[Hammerstein 2010]

Hammerstein, Josh & May, Christopher. *The CERT[®] Approach to Cybersecurity Workforce Development* (CMU/SEI-2010-TR-045). Software Engineering Institute, Carnegie Mellon University, 2010. http://www.sei.cmu.edu/library/abstracts/reports/10tr045.cfm

[Islam 2006]

Islam, K. Developing and Measuring Training the Six Sigma Way: A Business Approach to Training and Development. Pfeiffer, 2006.

[Lajoie 2008]

Lajoie, S. "Metacognition, Self Regulation, and Self-Regulated Learning: A Rose by Any Other Name?" *Educational Psychology Review 20*, 4 (December 2008): 469-475.

[Lesgold 1997]

Lesgold, A.M. *Transitions in Work and Learning: Implications for Assessment*. National Academy Press, 1997.

[Masters 2007]

Masters, S.; Behrens, S.; Mogilensky, J.; & Ryan, C. *SCAMPI Lead Appraiser Body of Knowledge (SLA BOK)* (CMU/SEI-2007-TR-019). Software Engineering Institute, Carnegie Mellon University, 2007. http://www.sei.cmu.edu/library/abstracts/reports/07tr019.cfm

[NICE 2011]

National Initiative for Cybersecurity Education (NICE). *Cybersecurity Workforce Framework*. NICE, 2011. http://csrc.nist.gov/nice/framework/documents/ national_cybersecurity_workforce_framework_printable.pdf

[OERI 1994]

Office of Educational Research and Improvement. *The National Assessment of College Student Learning: Identification of the Skills to Be Taught, Learned and Assessed* (NCES 94-286). U.S. Department of Education, 1994.

[OPM 2006]

Office of Personnel Management (OPM). *Leadership Competency Framework*. OPM, 2006. http://www.ocio.usda.gov/directives/doc/DR4040-412-001.htm

[OPM 2011]

Office of Personnel Management (OPM). *Competency Model for Cybersecurity*. OPM, 2011. http://www.chcoc.gov/transmittals/TransmittalDetails.aspx?TransmittalID=3436

[Patton 1987]

Patton, M. How to Use Qualitative Methods in Evaluations. Sage, 1987.

[PMI 2002]

Project Management Institute. *Project Manager Competency Development Framework*. Project Management Institute, 2002.

[Rossett 1998]

Rossett, A. First Things Fast: A Handbook for Performance Analysis. Jossey-Bass, 1998.

[SCAMPI 2011]

SCAMPI Upgrade Team. *Standard CMMI Appraisal Method for Process Improvement (SCAMPI) A, Version 1.3: Method Definition Document* (CMU/SEI-2011-HB-001). Software Engineering Institute, Carnegie Mellon University, 2011. http://www.sei.cmu.edu/library/abstracts/reports/11hb001.cfm

[Simon 1996]

Simon, H.A. The Sciences of the Artificial, 3rd ed. The MIT Press, 1996.

[Wiggins 2006]

Wiggins, G. & McTighe, J. Understanding by Design, expanded 2nd ed. Prentice Hall, 2006.

REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE				Form Approved		
Public reporting burden for this collection of information is estimated to average 1 hour per response, including the time for reviewing instructions, searching existing data sources, gathering and maintaining the data needed, and completing and reviewing the collection of information. Send comments regarding this burden estimate or any other aspect of this collection of information, including suggestions for reducing this burden, to Washington Headquarters Services, Directorate for information Operations and Reports, 1215 Jefferson Davis Highway, Suite 1204, Arlington, VA 22202-4302, and to the Office of Management and Budget, Paperwork Reduction Project (0704-0188), Washington, DC 20503.						
1.	AGENCY USE ONLY	2. REPORT DATE		3. RE	PORT TYPE AND DATES	
	(Leave Blank)	September 2012		CO	VERED	
4						
4.	IIILE AND SUBTILLE			D. FU	NDING NUMBERS	
/				FP	18721-05-0-0003	
6.	AUTHOR(S)					
7						
7.	PERFORMING ORGANIZATION NAME(S) AND ADDRESS(ES)			8. PE RE	RFORMING ORGANIZATION PORT NUMBER	
	Software Engineering Institute Camenie Mellon University			CN	/U/SFI-2012-TN-020	
	Pittsburgh, PA 15213					
9.	SPONSORING/MONITORING AGENCY NAME(S) AND ADDRESS(ES)			10. sp	ONSORING/MONITORING	
	HQ AFLCMC/PZE			AG	ENCY REPORT NUMBER	
	5 Eglin Street			n/a	3	
	Hanscom AFB, MA 01731-2116					
11.	SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES					
10						
12A	A DISTRIBUTION/AVAILABILITY STATEMENT			12B DISTRIBUTION CODE		
10						
13.	ABSTRACT (MAXIMUM 200 WORDS)					
	Workforce effectiveness relies on two critical characteristics: competence and readiness. This technical note describes the Competency Lifecycle Roadman (CLR) a preliminary roadman for understanding and building workforce readiness developed by the Computer					
	Security Incident Response Team (CSIRT) Development and Training team at the CERT® Program, part of Carnegie Mellon®					
	University's Software Engineering Institute. This note provides an early look at the roadmap, highlights some of its uses to date, and					
	discusses potential next steps in its development and transition.					
14.	SUBJECT TERMS			15. NUMBER OF PAGES		
	competency, competencies, training, professional development, readiness, readiness training, instructional design, workforce development, training programs, training program development			29		
	training validation, training assessment					
16.	PRICE CODE			1		
17.	SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF 18	SECURITY CLASSIFICATION	19. SECURITY CLASSI	FICATION	20. LIMITATION OF	
	REPORT	OF THIS PAGE	OF ABSTRACT		ABSTRACT	
	Unclassified	Unclassified	Unclassified		UL	
NSN	7540-01-280-5500		Standard Form 298 (Re 298-102	v. 2-89) Pr	escribed by ANSI Std. Z39-18	